FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/17/2022 8:00 AM

101181-4

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/17/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

IN THE Supreme Court of the State of Washington

 $George\ Berka, \\ Petitioner,$

v.

 $\label{eq:wedgewood Manor Homeowners'} \mbox{ Association,} \\ Respondent.$

On a Petition for Review to The Court of Appeals, Division I

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Appearances:

For the Petitioner: George Berka, 57 Concord St. Waterbury, CT 06710 (203) 206-2529 For the Respondent: Gregory L. Eklund, Counsel for the Plaintiff 1008 S. Yakima Ave. Tacoma, WA 98405

August 17th, 2022

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

INTRODUCTION

This case pertains to a claim for back dues and special assessments that Plaintiff
Wedgewood Manor Homeowners' Association brought against Defendant George Berka.
The Defendant had ceased paying his dues and special assessments based on his belief
that they were excessive, and that the Association was spending the homeowners'
monies too liberally, and was thus not properly meeting its fiduciary duty. The
Association prevailed in its claim at both the trial court and appellate levels, which
brings us to this petition for review before the Washington State Supreme Court.

OPINIONS BELOW

The opinions of the Washington State Court of Appeals (#827464) and the King County Superior Court (#20-2-10785-9) in this matter are listed in the Appendix.

JURISDICTION

The Washington State Court of Appeals had entered its final judgment on or about August 2nd, 2022. Therefore, this Court's jurisdiction is hereby invoked under RAP 13.4.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For several years, the Wedgewood Manor Homeowners' Association had been gradually increasing its dues and charging the owners "special assessments" for repairs of the pluming at the Wedgewood condominium complex, located in Sea-Tac. While Defendant and apartment owner George Berka appreciates the need to conduct

plumbing repairs when necessary, he believes that the repairs could have been conducted in a more cost-effective manner. Specifically, he believes that the "trenchless plumbing repair method" (p. A31) could have been much cheaper than actually excavating portions of the plumbing. As a result of this disagreement, the Defendant ceased paying is dues and special assessments, and the Association filed its Complaint # 20-2-10785-9-KNT, on or about July 1st, 2020, in the King County Superior Court. To this Complaint, the Defendant had filed his Answer on or about October 7th, 2020 and, on about March 31st, 2021, the Defendant had also filed his request to postpone his trial due to the Covid-19 pandemic. His request was denied. Then, on or about May 20th. 2021, the Defendant had subsequently filed his request to inspect the Plaintiff's plumbing repair project, and this request was also denied. Judgment in the matter was awarded for the Plaintiff on June 4th, 2021, and an appeal immediately followed, which was decided on or about August 2nd, 2022. The Defendant now asks this Supreme Court to weigh in on (2) main issues: (1), whether the Plaintiff's attorney fees were indeed "reasonable" and, most importantly, whether the value of the original judgment should have been taken into consideration when determining these fees, in addition to the "lodestar method". Also, (2), the Defendant asks whether his personal circumstances regarding this matter and the Covid-19 pandemic are sufficient to grant him a new trial. The Defendant's argument now follows.

At 102% of the Judgment, the Attorney's Fees Are Indeed Exorbitant.

At the top of p. 12 in its Opinion, the Appellate Court had cited the "lodestar method" as the means of "properly determining" an attorney's fee award based on the attorney's hourly rate and his hours expended. However, this method has one significant flaw: it fails to take into account the "overall value of the case", or the amount of the final judgment. As shown on p. A30, typical attorney's fees generally range from 25% to 33% of the judgment award, with 40% being the maximum rate, and 55% generally being considered exorbitant. Hence, for a judgment award of \$18,222, reasonable attorney's fees may be considered \$4,555 to \$6,013, with a maximum of \$7,288. The Association is now seeking fees of \$8,547 plus \$10,120, or \$18,667. This fee is now 102% of the original judgment award, or almost twice the figure that is generally considered exorbitant! Indeed, an attorney's fee greater than the original judgment award is staggering and should shock the conscience of this Court. Forcing the Defendant to pay an attorney's fee that is greater than the original judgment award would indeed be a gross injustice. To prevent such injustices, the attorney's fee award should be capped at a reasonable value, such as 33% of the judgment award, regardless of the outcome of the "lodestar method", and regardless of how many hours the attorney had expended on the matter, or what his rate was. Otherwise, we end up with situations such as this, where parties are forced to pay disproportionately high attorney fees relative to the face value of the judgment award.

The Appeals Process Should Be Unencumbered for All.

Every party involved in a legal matter should be entitled to a free and unencumbered right to an appeal. Forcing someone to pay \$10,120 for the opposing party's attorney fee would grossly undermine this important right. Therefore, the Defendant asks this

Court to help safeguard future appellants' rights to appeals by not straddling him with these high and unjust fees.

The Defendant Requests an Oral Argument.

Since the Defendant was not given an oral argument in this appeal, he was denied the important opportunity to verbally present his case. Since a verbal argument can serve to influence the justices just as much as the written pleadings, the opportunity to present a verbal argument should be part of every appeal in the interest of justice and, it actually is the "standard" in many courts. Therefore, the Defendant hereby requests an oral argument.

The Defendant's Illness Compromised his Ability to Defend Himself.

A significant issue in this matter is the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the Defendant's ability to effectively defend himself. This issue shall be discussed in greater detail below. In late December of 2020, the Defendant had contracted Covid-19. In the months that followed, he found it difficult to breathe normally. The Defendant was examined by his primary care physician, who in turn referred him to a pulmonary specialist, who examined him on March 15th, 2021. The pulmonary specialist's report is shown on p. A21. The Defendant's difficulty to breathe had adversely impacted his daily life, including his ability to provide timely responses in this matter, to adhere to the case schedule, and to travel. Covid-19 vaccines were still not widely available in the Defendant's area at that time. It was also due to his symptoms that the Defendant had requested to have his trial postponed on March 31st, 2021, that he had missed his

March 22nd, 2021 deadline to do so, and that he had also missed his deadline to request a jury trial. This is also why, on May 20th, 2021, the Defendant had requested a continuance of (3) months to obtain additional discovery, i.e., to inspect the Association's plumbing repair project. If he had the opportunity to inspect the plumbing repair project, and to show alternative and less expensive repair methods, (such as the "trenchless" pipe repair method), the Defendant believes that he may have had a reasonable chance to convince a jury that the Association was indeed spending excessive monies on the project.

A "Trenchless Pipe Repair" May Have Been Significantly Cheaper and Would Have Been the "Applicable Authority".

On top on p. 5 in its Opinion, the Appellate Court stated that "Berka does not cite any applicable authority in support of his claim", i.e., that the Association breached its fiduciary duty by not adequately managing the money received through the assessments imposed upon the condominium owners. To support his claim, the Defendant was ready to present to the jury an alternate means of repairing faulty pipes, known as a "trenchless pipe repair" (p. A31). In this type of repair, a liner impregnated with epoxy resin is inserted into the faulty pipe, inflated via a long tube called a "bladder", and allowed to cure. After the liner cures, the bladder is withdrawn, leaving behind a repaired, waterproof pipe. Repairs of this type can last for up to 50 years. The Association stated that their plumbing repair project may run as high as \$7.5 million. The tooling for this type of repair may be rented for a little as \$950 per day. With this method, one can see how considerable funds could have potentially been

saved on these pipes. Also, in his "Amended Answer" to the Complaint, (dated: 07-Oct-20), the Defendant had indicated that, "it may well be possible to clean out at least some of the clogged pipes with an auger bit on a long, steel cable, powered by an electric rotary tool..." (p. A19). Selecting these types of repair can make a considerable difference in reducing the overall cost of the plumbing repair project. If the Association had been thinking along these lines, instead of leaving the work solely and entirely to expensive contractors, one can quickly see how this \$7.5 million figure may have been substantially reduced. This is what the Defendant meant by the Association's "failure to be a responsible fiduciary". This is also why the Defendant is still requesting an inperson retrial before a jury at the trial court level. It is also appropriate to mention that the Defendant is a licensed aircraft mechanic. He has been trained in aircraft plumbing repairs, and has experience in general plumbing repairs and boiler installations, which should also grant him the "authority" and qualification to recommend alternate plumbing repairs to the Association.

The "Trenchless Pipe Repair Method" Would Have Been the Issue of Material Fact.

The same is true for the Appellate Court's finding in Section IV on the bottom of p. 8 of its Opinion, regarding the Defendant's motion to obtain additional discovery. In this finding, the Appellate Court stated that the Defendant "did not explain that the information that he sought would raise an issue of material fact to preclude summary judgment". However, upon closer examination, one can see that this information is indeed contained in the motion. In his Motion, the Defendant had asked to inspect "the

entire proposed Wedgewood plumbing repair construction site, including, but not limited to, the locations of all valves, pipes, fittings, assemblies, and manifolds to be replaced, along with the locations, sizes, and depths, of any proposed excavations." He also asked to "be permitted to take detailed photographs and notes of the proposed work, and to make sketches, so that he could consult with his own contractor, and obtain his own, independent estimate." With this information in hand, he would have been able to prepare his own estimate using the "trenchless pipe repair method", (described above). Also, he could have developed an estimate to clean out several sections of the water pipes with the "drill bit on the cable method", in lieu of the replacement of these pipes. With these alternate repair methods, the Defendant believes that he may have potentially lowered the Association's repair costs for these items considerably. The Defendant believes this to be the "issue of material fact sufficient to preclude summary judgment" that the Appellate Court was referring to. The whole point was to show that the Association had breached its fiduciary duty by neglecting to investigate these cheaper [and potentially significantly cheaper] alternatives to their existing plumbing repair scheme. This is because the Association had failed to sufficiently exercise its "duty of care" by failing to research other repair options enough to make an "informed decision". This is contrary to the "typical standard" that HOA directors are generally held to, and to RCW 24.06.153.

The Defendant *Did Contest* the Association's Charges.

At the top on p. 6 in its Opinion, the Appellate Court concluded that, "Nor does [Berka] contest that the Association was entitled to impose these [\$18,222.14] charges..." This

conclusion is not correct, as the Defendant did dispute these charges. On p. 3 of his "Amended Answer", the Defendant denied owing \$14,089.76, plus interest, costs, and attorney's fees, supposedly due to the Plaintiff, (3.1 thru 3.3, p. A18).

The Defendant's "Fiduciary Duty Claim" Should Still Apply.

On the bottom of p. 6 of its Opinion, the Appellate Court stated that the Defendant's claim of breach of fiduciary duty under RCW 11.98.071 should be discounted because this statute "only applies to trusts" and the Association "is not a trust". The Defendant had meant to use RCW 11.98.071 mainly as a reference, and therefore asks the Court to not hold him to it strictly. There are numerous other examples of and publications pertaining to the fiduciary duties of homeowners' associations (p. A32-A34). Generally speaking, the most common duties expected of homeowners' association board members are those of "care and loyalty". As such, the duty of care requires that HOA board members make "informed decisions" regarding HOA matters (p. A32-A34). This duty to make informed decisions certainly includes the duty to familiarize oneself with alternate methods of plumbing repair if one ultimately makes decisions regarding a \$7.5 million repair project. This is especially true if these alternate repair methods may potentially save the Association tens or of thousands of dollars or more. In Washington State, RCW 24.06.153, "Duties of Director or Officer – Standards – Liability", may also be applicable. It states that such an officer shall act, "(a), In good faith, (b), With the care an ordinary prudent person in a like position would exercise, and (c), in a manner in the best interest of the corporation". These standards are certainly applicable to the Wedgewood Association's decisions as well. For this reason, the Defendant had ask this

Court for some leeway on this issue, and asks that his "fiduciary duty argument" be allowed to still stand, since it is central to this case. If this argument is allowed to stand, the Defendant believes that he will indeed be able to "establish a genuine issue of material fact", which should overturn the Plaintiff's summary judgment, and grant the Defendant a new trial, crucially before a jury. This "issue of material fact" will center around the fact that the "trenchless pipe repair method" (p. A31) may be significantly simpler and cheaper than the repair methods of excavation and replacement that the Association is currently using. Also, if the repairs had already been completed, the Association should not be allowed to use this fact to have the Defendant's appeal dismissed as "moot". This is because, when the Defendant was seeking to convince the Association to consider other methods in the trial court, the issue was certainly not moot. While it may be too late to save money on this repair now if the money has already been spent and the repair is done, the Defendant should still not be forced to pay for it.

The Defendant Seeks an In-Person Jury Trial Because There Is No Good Substitute for It.

In Section III on p. 7 of its Opinion, the Appellate Court stated that the Defendant was not entitled to an extension of his trial date because the trial court granted the Association's motion for summary judgment, and because the Defendant's motion was not timely filed. The Court continued that an untimely motion such as this is generally only granted under "extraordinary circumstances", to prevent a "substantial injustice". The Court then also stated that the Defendant's "physical presence was not required for

the case to proceed to trial", and that if the case had proceeded to trial, the Defendant would have requested for the trial to be conducted "in the same manner". This assumption is not true. The Defendant would have sought, and is still seeking, an inperson hearing before an in-person jury. This is because, when consulting with an attorney, the Defendant was told that video teleconference hearings are generally considered a poor substitute for in-person hearings. This, in turn, is because of the degree of communication needed, of the "fidelity" of the process, and for certain subtle, yet important interactions between the defendant and the jurors, such as body language, etc., that a video teleconference hearing, or even a hearing behind a glass, is simply no substitute for a live, in-person hearing. This is why, if a party specifically requests an in-person hearing, it should be granted. The Defendant had intended to request just such a hearing, but was unable to do so in a sufficiently timely manner due to his illness, as described earlier. The symptoms that the Defendant was experiencing at the time are believed to constitute the "extraordinary circumstances" necessary to qualify him for a new trial to prevent a "substantial injustice".

STATUTORY PROVISIONS INVOLVED

Since the Washington State Court of Appeals had entered its final judgment on or about August 2nd, 2022, this Court's jurisdiction is hereby invoked under RAP 13.4.

REASON FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

The Petitioner believes that this Supreme Court should grant this petition for review for the following reason: Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), this matter is of a significant

public importance because it calls into question the value of the original judgment when determining attorney fees. When issuing its Opinion, the Appellate Court cited the "lodestar method", which is based only on the attorney's hourly rate and hours devoted to the effort. However, the Defendant maintains that the value of the original judgment should also be considered when determining the attorney fees, in addition to the two above metrics. Specifically, and especially for smaller judgments of less than, say, \$30,000, the attorney fees should be capped at 33% of the value of the judgment, regardless of the results of lodestar method. This would benefit the public by preserving one's all-important right to an appeal. Otherwise, as this matter shows, this right is currently compromised by the fact that the losing party is forced to pay unreasonably high attorney fees for the winning party.

CONCLUSION

The Defendant was unable to acceptably meet the trial court's case schedule and several deadlines because he was sick with Covid-19, and his ability to breathe normally had been adversely affected as a result. The Defendant believes that he had a sufficiently compelling argument that would have been the "issue of material fact", mentioned by the Appellate Court, as well as a valid defense, with which he may well have been able to convince a jury. This would have been the proposal of the "trenchless pipe repair method", in lieu of the more expensive excavation and replacement of the pipes, which the Association had used. However, he was not able to present his proposal in a timely manner due to his illness. To prepare his proposal, the Defendant had requested the opportunity and additional time to inspect the Association's

plumbing repair project, but his request was denied. The Defendant believes this denial to be improper, as it stripped him of an important opportunity to prepare his defense. Fiduciary claims are typically based on violations of the "duty of care and loyalty", which are broad and general terms, and are widely accepted. The Defendant did mention these terms in his fiduciary claim against the Association. The Defendant's fiduciary claim against the Association should therefore be allowed to stand, and should not be stricken simply because he cited an improper reference (RCW 11.98.071) for it. The Defendant still believes that the Association breached its broad fiduciary duty of care and loyalty by failing to adequately familiarize itself with alternate pipe repair methods before selecting its contractor and repair method. The Defendant should therefore be given the opportunity to present this argument to a jury.

The Defendant still seeks an in-person jury trial, and not a remote video teleconference hearing, simply because an in-person trial is deemed to be of higher quality and delivers, for lack of a better term, a "greater degree of justice". His request for an in-person jury trial should thus be granted still.

The total, \$18,667 attorney fee that the Association is now seeking from the Defendant is now greater than the face value of the original judgment award! At this value, this fee would definitely qualify as exorbitant, and should thus be stricken on the grounds of being unreasonable. For reference, a "reasonable" attorney fee is generally regarded as 25% to 33% of the judgment award, which, in this case, should be no more than about \$6,000. The "lodestar method" referenced by the Appellate Court is unjust because its use frequently results in excessive attorney fees. Also, it is unjust to force the Defendant to pay the other party's attorney fees in an appeal, as this obstructs one's

ability to receive a fair appeal. In light of the above, the Petitioner hereby requests this Supreme Court to grant his Petition for Review.