FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/20/2022 2:42 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101181-4

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## GEORGE BERKA,

Petitioner,

v.

## WEDGEWOOD MANOR HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION,

Respondent.

# RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

By:

Drew Mazzeo, WSBA No. 46506 HARBOR APPEALS AND LAW, PLLC 2401 Bristol Court SW, Suite C-102 Olympia, WA 98502

Email: of fice@harbor appeals.com

Phone: (360) 539-7156 Fax: (360) 539-7205

Attorney for Respondent

##

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

## 4. ARGUMENT IN RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

One reason a "petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only. . . . [is i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). Summary Judgment is properly granted when there are no material issues of fact, and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. CR 56.

## 4.1. <u>Berka Presents No Issues of Substantial Public</u> Importance Regarding the Lodestar Method.

Fee decisions are entrusted to the discretion of the trial court. *Boeing Co. v. Sierracin Corp.*, 108 Wash.2d 38, 65, 738 P.2d 665 (1987). Under the lodestar method, this Court, en banc, held that the trial court should examine an attorneys' billing records and determine the number of hours that were reasonably expended in pursuing the litigation. *Mahler v. Szucs*, 135 Wn.2d 398, 433, 957 P.2d 632, 651 (1998), *order corrected on denial of reconsideration*, 966 P.2d 305 (Wash. 1998). In doing so, it is

important the court "take an active role in assessing the reasonableness of fee awards, rather than treating cost decisions as a litigation afterthought." *Id.* at 434. Courts then may adjust an award "upward or downward." *Id.* 

Here, Berka argues the "lodestar" method of calculating attorney fees has the "significant flaw of failing to take into account the overall value of the case or the amount of the final judgment." (Petition at 2). Berka's "significant flaw" argument is without merit as he misunderstands existing law.

A trial court may already adjust a reasonable attorney fee award "upward or downward" when taking "an active role in assessing the reasonableness of fee awards." This could be because an attorney spent too much time on the matter and did not "expend[] a reasonable number of hours in securing a successful recovery for the client." Mahler, 135 Wn.2d at 434 (emphasis added). Or it could be because hours spent were wasteful or duplicative. *Id*.

In other words, the lodestar method does not have the flaw Berka alleges. The lodestar method already requires the trial court to consider the hours reasonably spent to obtain a "successful recovery for the client." This is just another way of taking into account the amount in controversy, *e.g.*, judgment amount, compared to the total hours and fees charged as Berka believes is important.

To the degree Berka believes that it is per se, or otherwise, unreasonable for both attorney fees and the amount in controversy to be thousands of dollars and comparable in total amounts, courts under the lodestar method already consider such circumstances on a case-by-case basis. When circumstances require it, courts have authority under the lodestar method to adjust attorney fee awards downwards if the fee amount requested is unreasonably disproportionate to the amount in controversy and any work done to secure that judgment was unnecessary.

Contrary to Berka's assertions, the appeal process is similarly unencumbered by utilizing the lodestar method. The lodestar method applies to courts of appeal as much as it does to trial courts when deciding the reasonableness of attorney fees. Fees are awarded on appeal if and only if the amount requested is reasonable. One of the factors taken into account under lodestar method is whether the work done is commiserate with securing a successful result on appeal. Duplicative or wasteful work is discounted and not awardable.

In the matter at hand, for example, Division 2 properly considered Wedgewood's fees on appeal. It took into account the work done by Wedgewood to secure the favorable result on appeal. Berka in his Petition to this Court did not attempt to demonstrate how Wedgewood's fees were unreasonable or how Division 2 erred in granting the association fees.

In sum, Berka raises no substantial issue of public importance. Rather, he presents only a misunderstanding of existing law. This is because the lodestar method already

considers the very thing he believes is important. While he is unhappy that the trial court found Wedgewood's attorney fees reasonable, that ruling was within the trial court's sound discretion. The trial court factored in Berka's late filed motions causing Wedgewood's attorney fees to increase significantly. It considered the work done to secure the favorable result. Berka, for his part, failed to show there was any duplicative or wasteful work done. Upon review, Division 2 affirmed, and also awarded fees on appeal. Berka again failed to demonstrate Wedgewood's billing entries, or that the overall award, was unreasonable. Consequentially, the trial court did not abuse its discretion, Division 2 did not err, and Berka raises no issue of substantial public importance. This Court should deny his petition.

4.2. <u>Berka's Arguments Regarding the Denial of a Continuance of the Trial Date or to Obtain Discovery Raise No Issues of Public Importance.</u>

"The decision to grant a continuance is at the discretion of the trial court and its decision will be upheld absent an abuse of discretion." *Harris v. Drake*, 152 Wn.2d 480, 493, 99 P.3d 872

(2004). "A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable, exercised on untenable grounds, or is arbitrary." *Id*.

Here, Berka admitted that he did not pay the assessments that Wedgewood sued to recover. His defense was erroneous, believing that he was legally absolved of the requirement to pay such assessments, based on his unilateral assertion that Wedgewood was not frugally maintaining the condominium.

The trial court, confronted with a defense not based in law, did not abuse its discretion by denying Berka's motion to continue the trial date. Nor did it do so by denying his motion for time to pursue discovery. For one reason, both motions were filed after court ordered deadlines to do so. For another reason, Berka did not proffer what material issue of fact would be raised with proffered discovery—regarding the issue before the court, i.e., his admitted failure to pay assessments. Regardless, summary judgment was granted, and he demonstrated no prejudice

because neither trial nor further discovery was necessary where Wedgewood was entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

Berka's appeal of these issues then cited inapplicable authority. He failed to show how the trial court abused its discretion by denying his late filed motions for continuances.

In his Petition, he now reargues the merits of his appeal regarding these continuance issues. But rearguing the merits of an appeal is not proper argument in a petition for review. Instead, Berka's burden is to demonstrate how these continuance issues are of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4). He has failed to do so, let alone show how Division 2 ruled contrary to settled law. This Court should deny his Petition.

### 5. ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

Pursuant to RAP 18.1(j), this Court may award costs and attorney fees if applicable law grants a party the right to recover fees and cost on appeal and the party was awarded such fees by the Court of Appeals.

Here, Wedgewood was awarded attorney fees and costs on

appeal based on RAP 18.1 and Section 13.11 of the Declaration.

Berka's Petition is without merit. It is based on a

misunderstanding of the law and raises no issues of public

importance. Even when arguing the merits of his appeal, he fails

to show how Division 2 ruled contrary to settled law.

Wedgewood respectfully requests attorney fees and costs for

having to respond to this Petition.

6. CONCLUSION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, Wedgewood respectfully requests

this Court deny review, for the reasons stated herein. It requests

attorney fees for having to respond to this Petition.